IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TIM WILSON, P.E., Nevada State Engineer, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES,

Appellant,

vs.

PAHRUMP FAIR WATER, LLC., a Nevada limited-liability company; STEVEN PETERSON, an individual; MICHAEL LACH, an individual; PAUL PECK, an individual; BRUCE JABEOUR, an individual; and GERALD SCHULTE, an individual, Electronically Filed Feb 19 2019 11:12 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 77722

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the final order of the Fifth Judicial District Court granting Respondent Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, et al.'s (hereafter "PFW") Petition for Judicial Review. The final order was filed on December 6, 2018, with PFW serving the Notice of Entry of Order that same day. Joint Appendix ("JT APP") Vol. XIV at 5417-Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate 5441. Procedure (NRAP) 3A(a), NRAP 3A(b)(1), and NRS 533.450(9). Appellant Tim Wilson, P.E., in his capacity as the Acting Nevada State Engineer, Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, Division of Water Resources (hereafter "State Engineer") timely filed his Notice of Appeal with the district court on December 10, 2018. JT APP Vol. XIV at 5442–5460. Accordingly, the State Engineer's appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(8) as this is an administrative agency case involving water and an order of the State Engineer.

///

-1-

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the district court erred in holding that substantial evidence does not support Amended Order No. 1293A and that the State Engineer acted arbitrarily and capriciously in issuing Amended Order No. 1293A prohibiting the drilling of new domestic wells in the Pahrump Valley Hydrographic Basin without the relinquishment of 2.0 acre-feet of existing water rights in good standing?
- B. Whether the district court erred in finding that Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, a limited-liability company consisting of three (3) different types of members, had the requisite standing to challenge Amended Order No. 1293A?
- C. Whether the district court erred in admitting PFW's Supplemental Record on Appeal ("SROA") over the State Engineer's objections?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the district court's December 6, 2018, Order granting PFW's Petition for Judicial Review, whereby the district court found that the State Engineer exceeded his statutory authority in issuing Amended Order No. 1293A, the State Engineer should have provided notice to property owners prior to issuing Amended Order No. 1293A, substantial evidence does not support Amended Order No. 1293A, and that Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, had the requisite standing to challenge Amended Order No. 1293A.¹ JT APP Vol. XIV at 5417–5426.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Pahrump Valley Hydrographic Basin (hereafter "Pahrump Basin"), straddles southern Nye and Clark counties and is one of 256 groundwater basins and sub-basins in Nevada. JT APP 1323, 3306. The Pahrump Basin is, historically, one of the most regulated groundwater basins within the state, as evidenced by the number of State Engineer Orders issues in the Pahrump Basin. *See* JT APP Vol. I at 50. The Pahrump Basin is over-appropriated, meaning that the existing committed water rights in the basin, in the form of permits and

¹ While PFW also raised the issue of whether Amended Order No. 1293A is an unconstitutional taking of private property without just compensation, the district court found it was unnecessary to make a determination with respect to the takings issue since it invalidated Amended Order No. 1293A. JT APP Vol. XIV at 5424.

certificates, exceeds the basin's perennial yield.² The perennial yield of the Pahrump Basin is 20,000 acre-feet annually ("afa"). JT APP Vol. I at 51, 86. However, due to many factors, the existing permitted and certificated rights total an annual water commitment of nearly 60,000 afa. *Id*.

While these numbers alone are problematic for the long-term health and management of the Pahrump Basin, the problem is exacerbated by the fact that the nearly 60,000 afa of existing rights **does not** include the quantity of water allowed to be withdrawn by existing domestic wells. Within the Pahrump Basin, there are approximately 11,280 existing domestic wells in the Pahrump Basin, which represents the greatest proliferation and density of domestic wells in any basin in the state by far. JT APP Vol. I at 51, Vol. I–III at 86–560, Vol. V at 1022–1157, Vol. VI–VIII at 1436–1652, Vol. IX–X at 1792–3495. By statute, each domestic well within the state may withdraw up to 2.0 afa of groundwater for culinary and household purposes in a single-family dwelling, including the watering of a

² Perennial yield is the maximum amount of groundwater that can be salvaged each year over the long term without depleting the groundwater reservoir.

garden, lawn, and domestic animals, allowing for an additional withdrawal of approximately 22,560 afa from existing domestic wells in the Pahrump Basin. NRS 534.013; NRS 534.180. Calculating the total existing legally permissible withdrawals within the Pahrump Basin of nearly 60,000 afa of existing water rights, plus the legally allowed potential withdrawal of approximately 22,560 afa for existing domestic wells, amounts to more than 80,000 afa of existing commitments in a basin with 20,000 afa of water available to withdraw.

When taking into account the existing parcels in the Pahrump Basin for which no domestic wells currently exists, but which are not currently within the service area of an existing water utility, there is the potential for up to 8,000 new domestic wells to be drilled, or stated differently, an additional 16,000 afa of potential water commitments in the basin. JT APP Vol. I at 52, Vol. I–III at 86–560, Vol. V at 1022– 1157, Vol. VI–VIII at 1436–1652, Vol. IX–X at 1792–3495. In other words, these potential new domestic wells (16,000 afa) together with the existing domestic wells (22,560 afa) would have, by statute, the ability to withdraw nearly twice the 20,000 afa perennial yield of the basin.

///

Without further regulation in the Pahrump Basin, there stands the possibility of having nearly 100,000 afa³ of groundwater withdrawn in the basin. Per NRS 534.080(4), the date of priority for the use of underground water from a well for domestic purposes where the draught does not exceed 2.0 acre-feet per year is the date of completion of the well. Given that Nevada is a prior appropriation state, and new domestic wells have the most junior priority, any new domestic wells will in turn be the first ones ordered to cease their use of water in the event of a curtailment. NRS 534.080(4); NRS 534.110(6). Despite the prior actions of the State Engineer to regulate the Pahrump Basin, water levels on the valley floor of the basin continue to decline steadily at unacceptable rates. JT APP Vol. VII at 1541–1550.

Based upon the undoubtedly troubling issues regarding water in Nye County, particularly the Pahrump Basin, the Nevada Legislature enacted the Nye County Water District Act in 2007, creating the Nye County Water District (hereafter "the District"). *See* Ch. 542, Nevada Statutes 2007, p. 3397 (S.B. 222 (2007)). Pursuant to

³ Adding together the approximately 60,000 afa of existing permitted and certificated rights, 22,560 afa of potential withdrawals from existing domestic wells, and 16,000 afa of potential withdrawals from possible domestic wells equals approximately 98,560 afa.

NRS 534.030(5), the State Engineer has properly availed himself of the services of the District as a source of advice and assistance as necessary to conserve groundwater in the Pahrump Basin, a designated⁴ basin.

On December 11, 2017, after voting to do so, the District sent a letter to the State Engineer requesting an order from the State Engineer that would require the relinquishment or dedication of water rights for new domestic wells, while expressly exempting existing domestic wells. JT APP Vol. VI at 1365–1384. Following receipt of the District's letter, the State Engineer issued Order No. 1293 on December 19, 2017, pursuant to his authority under NRS 534.110(8) and NRS 534.120(1), prohibiting the drilling of any new domestic well in the Pahrump Basin without obtaining and relinquishing 2.0 afa of water rights in good standing to account for the statutorily authorized withdrawal of the new domestic well. JT APP Vol. I at 50.

On April 17, 2018, the Nye County Board of Commissioners adopted a Groundwater Management Plan (hereafter "GMP") for the Pahrump Basin, thereby recognizing at the County level that Pahrump

⁴ The State Engineer explains the significance of designating a groundwater basin, per NRS 534.030, in more detail below. In essence, designating a problematic groundwater basin allows the State Engineer to use additional statutory, discretionary tools to manage a basin.

has the highest density of domestic wells in Nevada, identifying and relying on Order No. 1293 as a key component of the GMP. JT APP Vol. X at 3496–3511. The GMP, with Order No. 1293, aims to bring water use within the basin to equilibrium with the groundwater withdrawals and ultimately bring stability and sustainability to the groundwater use within the Pahrump Basin. See Id. Specifically, the requirement for the impact of new domestic wells on the groundwater aquifer to be offset by water rights relinquished to the Pahrump Basin is vital to the County's GMP. Order No. 1293, and the County's GMP, represent an attempt by the County and the State Engineer to work cooperatively to address over-appropriation in the Pahrump Basin, which may prevent designation as a critical management area and ultimately prevent curtailment.

As a result of Order No. 1293, litigation ensued, with Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, filing a Petition for Judicial Review. Recognizing that certain individuals, who filed a Notice of Intent to Drill or applied for building permits prior to the issuance of Order No. 1293, may have been unintentionally impacted by the issuance of Order No. 1293, the State Engineer issued Amended Order No. 1293A on July 12, 2018. JT APP

-8-

Vol. I at 56. In issuing Amended Order No. 1293A, the State Engineer restated the prohibition on new domestic wells without the relinquishment of 2.0 afa of water rights, but created two exceptions:

- (1) For those persons whom filed a Notice of Intent to Drill with the Nevada Division of Water Resources (hereafter "DWR") between December 15th and 19th, 2017, which were denied upon the issuance of Order No. 1293; or
- (2) Persons whom could demonstrate that they filed an application for a zoning and/or building permit with the Nye County Departments of Planning or Building and Safety on or before December 19, 2017, for a parcel eligible for a domestic well. JT APP Vol. I at 56.

After the issuance of Amended Order No. 1293A, Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, and the State Engineer entered into a settlement agreement, whereby Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, voluntarily dismissed its appeal of Order No. 1293 and, in exchange, the State Engineer agreed to an expedited briefing and scheduling of a hearing on a new appeal of Amended Order No. 1293A.

///

Following this settlement, Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, along with Steven Peterson, Michael Lach, Paul Peck. petitioners new Bruce Jabeour, and Gerald Schulte (collectively "PFW"), timely filed a new Petition for Judicial Review challenging Amended Order No. 1293A. JT APP Vol. I at 15-30. Following a complete briefing on this matter, and oral arguments on November 8, 2018, the district court ordered, from the bench, that PFW's Petition for Judicial Review be granted, reversing Amended Order No. 1293A. JT APP Vol. XIII-XIV The parties submitted competing Proposed Orders to at 5186–5377. that effect, as the State Engineer objected to the accuracy of the language of PFW's Proposed Order. JT APP Vol. XIV at 5378–5416. The written order granting the Petition for Judicial Review was filed on December 6, 2018, and the Notice of Entry of Order was served on December 6, 2018. JT APP Vol. XIV at 5417–5441.

The State Engineer timely filed his Notice of Appeal with the district court, as well as a Motion for Stay of Order Granting Petition for Judicial Review and Reversing State Engineer's Amended Order No. 1293A Pending Appeal on Order Shortening Time. JT APP Vol. XIV at 5442–5476. Following a full briefing on this Motion for

-10-

Stay, the district court denied the Motion for Stay, with the Notice of Entry of Order received by the State Engineer on January 2, 2019. JT APP Vol. XIV at 5498–5539.

That same day, on January 2, 2019, the State Engineer requested the same relief from this Court, filing an Emergency Motion Under NRAP 27(e) for Stay of District Court's Order Granting Petition for Judicial Review Pending Appeal Pursuant to NRAP 8(a)(2) and Request for Administrative Stay Pending Decision on Underlying Motion for Stay (hereafter "Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Appeal"), requesting immediate action. See State Engineer's Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Appeal. On January 3, 2019, this Court granted a temporary stay and directed an expedited response from PFW. See Order Granting Temporary Stay and Directing Expedited Response. Following a full briefing on the State Engineer's Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Appeal, this Court granted the State Engineer's requested stay pending appeal and expedited the appeal, requiring the State Engineer to file and serve his opening brief and appendix by February 15, 2019. See Order Granting Stay and Expediting Appeal. The State Engineer now timely submits his Opening Brief.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State Engineer respectfully requests that this Court reverse the district court's order in full, and find that Amended Order No. 1293A is supported by substantial evidence and that its issuance was a proper exercise of the State Engineer's statutory authority and discretion. Contained within the State Engineer's Record on Appeal is more than sufficient evidence supporting not only the detrimental impacts of adding more groundwater commitments, including localized effects of groundwater pumping based upon where pumping occurs, but also supporting the restriction on new, unaccounted for withdrawals of groundwater by domestic wells, as set forth in Amended Order No. 1293A.

The State Engineer has limited essentially every other type of new appropriation in the Pahrump Basin, made efforts to reduce the unused but authorized water right commitments, and heavily regulated the use of water within the basin; yet, water levels on the valley floor continue to fall. This continued decline will not only jeopardize and impair the legally protected interest in existing domestic wells, but also those existing permitted and certificated senior water rights. Should domestic wells continue to proliferate without the ability of the State Engineer to regulate and manage all water uses and withdrawals in the Pahrump Basin, including exercising his legal authority to manage and regulate domestic wells, the detrimental effects of the plummeting water levels will be accelerated. Given the statutory language allowing a domestic well to withdraw up to 2.0 afa without a permit, existing uses alone will exceed the perennial yield without any authority or ability of the State Engineer to intervene and exercise his legal duty to manage the groundwater resource. Adopting PFW's arguments, this is the result.

Without Amended Order No. 1293A, the State Engineer's only option for addressing the groundwater problems in Pahrump will be to regulate, or curtail, by priority, whereby any new domestic wells would be the first water use restricted. *See* NRS 534.080(4); NRS 534.110(6). However, the district court's findings even call into question that legal directive and authority of the State Engineer. If this Court does not reverse the district court's findings, the statutory authority of the State Engineer to regulate domestic wells by priority is uncertain.

///

The State Engineer properly acted within the authority and discretion provided to him by the Legislature. The Pahrump Basin is designated pursuant to NRS 534.030, thereby establishing that the basin is in need of further administration and enabling the State Engineer to utilize the tools contained in NRS 534.110(8) and NRS 534.120(1) in the enhanced management of the basin. The State Engineer determined that the drilling of additional wells that allow for additional, unaccounted for withdrawals from the groundwater supply in the Pahrump Basin will cause an undue interference with existing rights and the protectable interest in existing domestic wells. Therefore, Amended Order No. 1293A and its restriction on new domestic wells is essential. The State Engineer has already restricted every other new appropriation; there are no other withdrawals that he can restrict or limit without curtailment.

Further, the State Engineer has rightfully determined that the groundwater in the Pahrump Basin is being depleted. Therefore, Amended Order No. 1293A is essential to the welfare of the basin. The State Engineer has deemed it essential that he prohibit new domestic wells in the Pahrump Basin unless existing water rights are

-14-

relinquished in an amount to account for the withdrawals allowed by statute of that new domestic well. Special protections pertaining to domestic wells found elsewhere in NRS Chapters 533 and 534 are inapplicable to the State Engineer's authority to manage the state's water resources and do not limit the broad discretionary tools used to issue Amended Order No. 1293A.

Moreover, the State Engineer's issuance of Amended Order No. 1293A does not violate due process. Legislative history shows that the Legislature did not intend for a protectable interest to exist in a domestic well that did not yet exist. Further, the mere expectation that domestic wells would remain available without accounting for the impact to the aquifer in the Pahrump Basin is insufficient for due process protections to attach. Amended Order No. 1293A allows for the drilling of new domestic wells as long as there is an offset through the relinquishment of 2.0 acre-feet of water to the basin. Sufficient procedural protections exist through the judicial review process provided by NRS 533.450, as identified by the Legislature. *See* NRS 534.110(8).

///

Finally, the district court erred in finding that Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, had the requisite standing to challenge Amended Order No. 1293A. Limited liability companies are independent entities separate and apart from their members and managers. There is no evidence that Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, at the time of the issuance of Amended Order No. 1293A, owned any property affected by the issuance of the order. Further, even if the Court considers the individual members, Pahrump Fair Water, LLC, is made up of undisclosed members who, based on their limited description as real-estate brokers doing business in Pahrump and owners of well drilling companies, would not have standing to sue in their own right. Lastly, the district court erred in admitting and considering PFW's Supplemental Record on Appeal in reaching its decision, over the objections of the State Engineer and contrary to case law and statute.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

When reviewing a district court's order reversing an agency's decision, including a decision of the State Engineer, this Court applies the same standard of review as should be applied by the lower court,

-16-

determining "whether the agency's decision was arbitrary or capricious." *King v. St. Clair*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 414 P.3d 314, 316 (2018) (*citing Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe of Indians v. Washoe Cty.*, 112 Nev. 743, 751, 918 P.2d 697, 702 (1996)).

"Water law and all proceedings thereunder are special in character, and the provisions of such law not only lay down the method of procedure but strictly limits it to that provided." *Application of Filippini*, 66 Nev. 17, 27, 202 P.2d 535, 540 (1949). Pursuant to NRS 533.450(10), the decision of the State Engineer is prima facie correct, and the burden of proof is on the party attacking the same. *See also Office of State Eng'r v. Morris*, 107 Nev. 699, 701, 819 P.2d 203, 205 (1991) ("[D]ecisions of the State Engineer are presumed to be correct upon judicial review.").

The court's review of a decision of the State Engineer, under NRS 533.450, is limited to determining whether substantial evidence in the record supports the State Engineer's decision. *Revert v. Ray*, 95 Nev. 782, 786, 603 P.2d 262, 264 (1979). Substantial evidence is "that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id.* In reviewing a decision or order of the State Engineer,

the court will not "pass upon the credibility of the witnesses nor reweigh the evidence," as this is a limited review "in the nature of an appeal." *Id.* A party that feels aggrieved "is not entitled to a *de novo* hearing in the district court." *Id.* The court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the State Engineer. *Id.*

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