Case No. 77722

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TIM WILSON, P.E., Nevada State Engineer, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES, Electronically Filed Mar 26 2019 02:27 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

PAHRUMP FAIR WATER, LLC., a Nevada limited-liability company; STEVEN PETERSON, an individual; MICHAEL LACH, an individual; PAUL PECK, an individual; BRUCE JABEOUR, an individual; and GERALD SCHULTE, an individual;

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

¹¹⁷ Appellant's Opening Br. at 19.

¹¹⁸ Town of Eureka v. Office of State Eng'r, State of Nev., Div. of Water Res., 108 Nev. 163, 165-66, 826 P.2d 948, 950 (1992).

¹¹⁹ *Felton v. Douglas Cty.*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 6 at 3, 410 P.3d 991, 994 (2018) (emphasis added); *see also Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe of Indians v. Ricci*, 126 Nev. 521, 525, 245 P.3d 1145, 1148 (2010) (a district court must "review purely legal questions without deference to the State Engineer's ruling.").

¹²⁰ See H.B. 2238, Leg., 2d Regular Sess. (Ariz. 2018); FLA. CONST. art. V, § 21 (2018); *King v. Mississippi Military Dep't*, 245 So.3d 404, 408 (Miss. 2018) ("we abandon the old standard of review giving deference to agency interpretations of statutes."); *Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. Wisconsin Dep't of Rev.*, 914 N.W.2d 21, 54 (Wis. 2018) ("we are leaving our deference doctrine behind because it is unsound in principle."); on December 5, 2018, the Wisconsin Legislature adopted S.B. 884 codifying the *Tetra Tech* decision in the Wisconsin statutes.

In addition, several legal scholars and judges have criticized deferential standards of review because they create within the judiciary an "institutional bias in favor of the most powerful parties (the [] bureaucracy), which violates parties' due process rights when their life, liberty, or property is at issue."¹²¹ As United States Supreme Court Justice Brennan noted more than forty years ago, "there exists in modern America the necessity for protecting all of us from arbitrary action by governments more powerful and more pervasive than any in our ancestors' time."¹²²

One scholar has pointed out that "when a judge 'respects,' 'defers,' or otherwise relies on an agency's judgment about the law . . . she needs to worry not about an agency's authority, but more centrally about whether she candidly is abandoning her very office as a judge and denying due process of law."¹²³ While he was on the Court of Appeals, current United States Supreme Court Justice Gorsuch joined this chorus of criticism lamenting that "the problem remains that courts are not fulfilling their duty to interpret the law and declare invalid agency actions inconsistent with those interpretations."¹²⁴

¹²¹ Christopher J. Walker, *Attacking Auer and Chevron Deference: A Literature Review*, 15 Geo. J.L. & Pub. Policy 103 (2018).

¹²² William J. Brenan, Jr., *State Constitutions and the Protection of Individual Rights*, 90 Har. L. Rev. 489, 495 (1977).

¹²³ Phillip Hamburger, *Chevron Bias*, 84 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 1192 (2016).

¹²⁴ *Gutierrez-Brizuela v. Lynch*, 834 F.3d 1142, 1153 (10th Cir. 2016) (Gorsuch, J., concurring).

More than 200 years ago, Justice Marshall uttered his famous dictum that "[i]t is emphatically the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is."¹²⁵ As his title suggests, the State Engineer is a professional engineer by background and training. There is nothing in his educational background that provides him with any special expertise regarding the common law rules of statutory construction or legal interpretation. Rather, it is the courts which possess this unique expertise. Accordingly, the Court should not give deference to the State Engineer's legal determinations, particularly regarding determinations of the scope and limit of the State Engineer's own authority. This is especially true in cases, such as this one, where the State Engineer's current interpretation of his authority differs from previous interpretations.

III. Orders 1293 and 1293A are Not Supported by Reliable or Substantial Evidence in the Record.

A. <u>The Pahrump Basin is not being over-pumped and the State</u> <u>Engineer has not shown that new domestic wells will unduly</u> <u>interfere with existing wells.</u>

Even if the State Engineer has the authority to apply NRS 534.110(8) to domestic wells, which he does not, before he can do so, NRS 533.370(2) and NRS 534.110 require that he demonstrate that additional wells will *unduly* interfere with existing wells. Under NRS 534.110(4), all appropriations of groundwater must

¹²⁵ Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137, 177 (1803).

allow for a "reasonable lowering of the static water level at the appropriator's point of diversion." The State Engineer never established an objective standard for what constitutes an "undue" interference with an existing well. Therefore, the State Engineer could not make a determination whether predicted declines in the water table are reasonable.

By contrast, the State Engineer's own records show that the Pahrump Basin is not currently over-pumped (i.e., current pumping does not exceed the established perennial yield). Pumping rates in the basin have steadily declined since 1969 and as a result of this decline, water levels in some portions of the basin have leveled-off or risen (in some cases by as much as 45 feet).¹²⁶ Most importantly, the record is devoid of any scientific evidence showing that the drilling of new domestic wells will unduly impact existing wells in the basin.¹²⁷

The hydrogeology of any particular groundwater basin is complex. Pumping in one part of a basin may have a variable effect on water levels in another part of a basin. This is why tools like monitoring wells and groundwater models are used to

¹²⁶ See JT APP 5161 (slide showing hydrographs of monitoring wells in Pahrump. The hydrographs show that in some areas water levels have rebounded or leveled off, in other areas declines are relatively slight, while in a few areas significant declines have occurred).

¹²⁷ The record does include a report of a groundwater model simulation performed by John Klenke (JT APP 1385-1435); however, the State Engineer admits that Mr. Klenke did not simulate the effects of pumping from new wells, only the effects of pumping existing wells. JT APP 54 ("The study did not take into account anticipated increases in future demand . . .").

determine the likelihood of conflicts arising from pumping at specific locations. Here, no independent hydrologic analysis was conducted. Instead, the State Engineer relied exclusively on the results of a groundwater model that was never designed to determine whether new wells would cause undue interference with existing wells.¹²⁸ Instead, the model only estimated the likelihood of well failures resulting from the pumping at existing wells in the basin.

B. Order 1293A is both overbroad and being applied too narrowly.

Substantial evidence cannot exist to support Order 1293A because Order 1293A imposes a blanket, basin-wide ban on the drilling of new domestic wells even in areas where water levels have significantly rebounded.¹²⁹ Yet, the State Engineer is authorized under NRS 534.110(8) to only limit drilling in portions of a basin where water levels are declining. Not only does NRS 534.110(8) not authorize impairment of domestic wells, it was an abuse of the State Engineer's discretion to impose a basin-wide ban when the evidence in the record indicates that there are significant areas of the basin water levels are static or rising.

¹²⁸ Notably the State Engineer has refused throughout this process to address any of PFW's specific criticisms of Mr. Klenke's groundwater study. Such a failure should be deemed an admission that Petitioners' arguments are meritorious, that the groundwater study is fundamentally flawed, and that the study cannot be considered substantial evidence supporting the issuance of the Orders.

¹²⁹ See JT APP 5161 (aerial with hydrographs of basin water levels).

In addition, Order 1293A applies only to domestic wells, not any other type of well. Individual domestic wells are limited to a draught of two (2) acre feet.¹³⁰ They are typically the smallest wells in a basin and generally have much smaller effects on groundwater levels than do larger municipal, industrial, and agricultural wells. Since Order 1293A does not limit those wells, it allows for the drilling of the much larger wells while banning smaller ones.¹³¹

The State Engineer has argued that larger production wells are exempt from the Order because they are required to undergo a permitting process that includes a conflicts analysis.¹³² However, the State Engineer was also required to perform a similar conflicts analysis before banning domestic wells and failed to do so.¹³³ Instead he relied solely on his unsupported belief that because *some* existing wells may be causing a problem in *some* parts of the basin, *all* new domestic wells should be prohibited *everywhere* in the basin.

¹³⁰ NRS 534.180(1).

¹³¹ The State Engineer states in his Opening Brief that he has "already prohibited every other type of well that may withdraw water from the aquifer." Appellant's Opening Br. at 36. This is incorrect and highly misleading. The State Engineer has indeed barred new *appropriations* of water; however, he still allows applications to be filed to change the place of diversion (i.e., to drill a new well) for existing permits. Therefore, he has not issued a blanket ban on the drilling of new industrial, commercial, or agricultural wells in the basin as he has done with domestic wells. ¹³² JT APP 4927:22-24.

¹³³ *See* NRS 534.110(8) (prior to restricting the drilling of new wells the State Engineer must demonstrate that the banned wells would have unduly interfered with existing wells in the basin).

Because the record in this case is both unreliable and does not provide substantial evidence supporting the State Engineer's action, the district court properly invalidated Order 1293A.

C. <u>No deference should be given to the State Engineer's factual</u> <u>determinations in this case because no evidentiary proceedings</u> <u>were held to provide a basis for those determinations.</u>

Normally, when the State Engineer holds a hearing on a water-related matter, interested parties are given an opportunity to view and challenge the evidence the State Engineer will be relying on to make his decision. The evidence provided by both sides is then included in the record on appeal submitted to the district court. Here, none of these procedures were followed and, therefore, the State Engineer's record on appeal should be viewed skeptically.

When proper evidentiary procedures are followed, the State Engineer's factual findings are accorded deference. However, this Court has made clear that its deference is pre-conditioned on the "fullness and fairness of the administrative proceedings" below.¹³⁴ Accordingly, a reviewing court can only defer to the State Engineer's factual findings if: (1) opposing parties were given a "full opportunity to be heard" during the administrative proceedings, (2) the State Engineer fully resolved all issues raised by the parties, and (3) the State Engineer prepared written

¹³⁴ *Revert*, 95 Nev. at 787, 603 P.2d at 264.

findings "in sufficient detail to permit judicial review."¹³⁵ Without these safeguards there is no way to determine the authenticity, relevance, or veracity of the "evidence" the State Engineer relied on.¹³⁶

Here, the State Engineer provided no notice that he was intending to issue the orders, nor did he hold any hearing to seek input from affected property owners. Accordingly, unlike with other appellate-type proceedings, there was little to no administrative record for the district court to review. While the State Engineer provided the district court an ostensible "record on appeal" for consideration, that record consisted of nothing more than hand-picked documents that the State Engineer claims he relied on in making his decision. None of the documents were authenticated or validated, nor have the authors of the documents been required to testify in a formal hearing or been subject to cross-examination. In addition, neither the State Engineer not anyone from his office provided any declaration or affidavit supporting his claim of reliance on these documents.

¹³⁵ *Id.*, 95 Nev. at 787, 603 P.2d at 264-65.

¹³⁶ The principle that evidence should be tested in an evidentiary proceeding is also reflected in this Court's holdings in *Great Basin Water Network* and *Eureka Cty. v. State Eng'r.* In those cases, the Court determined that protesters must have a fair opportunity to challenge evidence before water rights applications are approved. *Great Basin Water Network v. State Eng'r.*, 126 Nev. 187, 197, 234 P.3d 912, 919 (2010); *Eureka Cty. v. State Eng'r*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 84, 359 P.3d 1114, 1120 (2015).

In short, none of the processes and procedures which are designed to ensure a full and fair opportunity to challenge evidence or to determine if such evidence is relevant, credible, and accurate were followed. Accordingly, the district court properly reviewed such materials with skepticism and this Court should do likewise. In cases where the State Engineer refuses to subject his evidence to the test of an adversarial proceeding, the courts should accord that evidence little to no weight.¹³⁷ Therefore, the State Engineer's evidence cannot be considered substantial.

IV. Order 1293A Results In An Unconstitutional Taking.¹³⁸

"The Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, applicable to states through the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits the government from taking private property for public use without just compensation."¹³⁹ Likewise, Article 1, Section 8 of the Nevada Constitution states "[p]rivate property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation having first been made, or secured."¹⁴⁰

¹³⁸ The district court did not need to adjudicate PFW's final contention that Order 1293A violates the takings clause of the Nevada and the United States Constitutions. In the unlikely event the Court reverses the district court, PFW asks the Court to remand to the district court for consideration of the takings claim.

¹³⁷ See Eureka Cty., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 84 at 14, 359 P.3d at 1120 (Protesters must have a full opportunity "to challenge the evidence upon which the State Engineer's decision may be based.").

 ¹³⁹ *McCarran Int'l Airport*, 122 Nev. at 661-62, 137 P.3d at 1121.
¹⁴⁰ NEV. CONST. art. 1 § 8.

The State Engineer's issuance of Order 1293A resulted in both a per se taking and a regulatory taking.¹⁴¹ State-issued water right permits are considered real property in Nevada.¹⁴² Order 1293A requires a property owner to first acquire two acre-feet of state-issued water rights, and then forever relinquish those water rights to the State Engineer in order to drill a domestic well. By definition, this is a per se taking of private property – the relinquishment completely divests the property interest in the state-issued water rights without compensation.

Order 1293A is also a regulatory taking.¹⁴³ No reasonable person can dispute that the Orders interfere with reasonable investment-backed expectations of the owners. Testimony established that these owners performed due diligence before they purchased their property and confirmed that they could have a well.¹⁴⁴ The

¹⁴¹ A per se taking occurs: (1) where the action requires a property owner to suffer a permanent physical invasion of the property, or (2) where the action "completely deprives an owner of all economical beneficial use" of the property. *McCarran Int'l. Airport*, 122 Nev. at 662, 137 P.3d at 1122. By contrast a regulatory taking occurs when a government regulation requires an individual property owner to "bear a burden that should be borne by the public as a whole." *Yee v. City of Escondido*, *Cal.*, 503 U.S. 519, 522-23, 122 S. Ct. 1522, 1524 (1992).

¹⁴² Application of Filippini, 66 Nev. 17, 22, 202 P.2d 535, 537 (1949).

¹⁴³ In determining whether a regulation constitutes a taking a court must consider: (1) the regulation's economic impact on the property owner, (2) whether the regulation interferes with reasonable investment-backed expectations, and (3) the nature and the character of the government action. *Penn. Cent. Transp. Co. v. City of New York*, 438 U.S. 104, 124, 98 S. Ct. 2646, 2659 (1978); *see also McCarran Int'l. Airport*, 122 Nev. at 663, 137 P.3d at 1122. In examining whether a regulatory taking has occurred, the reviewing court "must consider the property as a whole" and "the purpose of the regulation." *Id.* ¹⁴⁴ JT APP 4581:20-4582:17.

State Engineer has never refuted this evidence. Accordingly, Order 1293A interferes with reasonable investment-backed expectations.

V. <u>PFW Has Standing To Participate In This Case.</u>

The State Engineer argues that Respondent PFW lacks standing to file or participate in this action.¹⁴⁵ The State Engineer's argument is without merit. PFW has both constitutional and statutory standing to assert the interests of its members because it was formed for the express purpose of doing so.¹⁴⁶ In addition, Respondents are seeking only prospective injunctive relief that "if granted, will inure to the benefit of those members of the association actually injured."¹⁴⁷

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